FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
9/4/2024 10:56 AM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

Supreme Court No. _____ Court of Appeals No. 84964-6

Case #: 1034342

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

VALLEY CITIES COUNSELING AND CONSULTATION,

Respondent,

v.

EZRA EDDINES,

Petitioner.

ON APPEAL FROM KING COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT

Honorable Ken Schubert

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Edmund Witter, WSBA No. 52339 Yuan Ting, WSBA No. 52897 Christina Jaccard, WSBA No. 55592 Ashleen O'Brien, WSBA No. 58429

KING COUNTY BAR ASSOCIATION HOUSING JUSTICE PROJECT 1200 5th Ave Suite 700 Seattle, WA 98101 Telephone: (253) 260-5129 Attorneys for Petitioner

I. INTRODUCTION

A little over three decades ago, this Court rejected a conflict preemption challenge to a Seattle ordinance that limited a landlord's ability to evict houseboat occupants to six specific reasons, holding that local lawmakers could narrow permissible reasons for eviction and thus prohibit within their jurisdictions certain evictions that were allowed under state unlawful detainer law. Kennedy v. City of Seattle, 94 Wn.2d 376, 384, 617 P.2d 713 (1980). Consistent with the Court's holding in Kennedy, many local jurisdictions across the state have exercised their expansive police powers to regulate permissible grounds for eviction, and both state and local lawmakers have increasingly legislated in this area in recent years in response to the growing affordable housing crisis.

In 2021, the state legislature amended the Residential Landlord Tenant Act ("RLTA") and the unlawful detainer statute to prohibit a landlord from evicting a tenant without a reason enumerated in the statute. LAWS OF 2021, ch. 212 § 2 (codified at

RCW 59.18.650), § 6 (codified at RCW 59.12.030). The state's just cause law was aimed at promoting housing stability by significantly narrowing the circumstances when landlords can terminate a residential tenancy at the expiration of a lease term and by eliminating landlords' ability to evict a month-to-month tenant without any reason after issuing the tenant a notice 20 days prior to the end of the month. Several municipalities, including the City of Auburn, have also enacted local just cause ordinances that similarly prohibit eviction without an enumerated reason and, in some instances, provide narrower just cause grounds than state law.

In this case, the Court of Appeals held that Auburn's just cause ordinance was preempted by state law and thus unconstitutional to the extent it does not allow eviction for one of the causes enumerated in the state just cause statute. The Court of Appeals' holding conflicts with this Court's decision in *Kennedy*, creates confusion about the validity of many local ordinances and the extent to which local jurisdictions can

regulate grounds for eviction, and unduly restricts the ability of local governments to legislate in response to local concerns. This Court should grant review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1), (3), and (4) to provide much-needed certainty to landlords, tenants, and local lawmakers about whether more protective just cause ordinances that narrow permissible grounds for eviction irreconcilably conflict with and thus are preempted by state law.

II. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner Ezra Eddines asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review designated in Part III of this petition.

III. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1), (3), and (4), Mr. Eddines seeks review of the published Court of Appeals decision in *Valley Cities Counseling and Consultation v. Eddines*, No. 84964-6, filed on August 5, 2024. A copy of the decision is in the Appendix at pages A-1 through A-13.

IV. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

A. Whether RCW 59.18.650 and RCW 59.12.030 irreconcilably conflict with and thus preempt local just cause ordinances that are more protective of tenants and narrow permissible grounds for eviction. (No.)

V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mr. Eddines rents an apartment from the Landlord in Auburn, Washington. In February 2022, the Landlord gave Mr. Eddines a notice requiring him to vacate his housing in just over 30 days. CP 3. The notice stated:

Valley Cities Landing is a supportive housing program for residents that are at 30% or below Area Median Income and would otherwise be homeless. You no longer meet the criteria for VCL supportive housing. You have not utilized VCL supportive housing services in the past year.

Id. Several months later, the Landlord initiated this unlawful detainer action alleging just cause for eviction under RCW 59.18.650(2)(j). *See* CP 1-6, 9. That provision provides in relevant part:

- (1)(a) A landlord may not evict a tenant, refuse to continue a tenancy, or end a periodic tenancy except for the causes enumerated in subsection (2)...
- (2) The following reasons listed in this subsection constitute cause pursuant to subsection (1) of this section:
- (j) The tenant continues in possession of a dwelling unit in transitional housing after having received at least 30 days' advance written notice to vacate in advance of the expiration of the transitional housing program, the tenant has aged out of the transitional housing program, or the tenant has completed an educational or training or service program and is no longer eligible to participate in the transitional housing program. . . .

RCW 59.18.650. At a show cause hearing, Mr. Eddines asked the court to dismiss the case for the Landlord's lack of just cause under Auburn City Code 5.23.070.A, which similarly prohibits a landlord from evicting a tenant without an enumerated reason but does not include the reason enumerated in RCW 59.18.650(2)(j). CP 7, 28-40; RP (Vol. I) 5-10. The Landlord did not dispute that it lacks just cause under the city code but argued that Auburn's just cause ordinance is preempted by RCW 59.18.650 to the extent it does not include an analog to RCW 59.18.650(2)(j). CP

9-10; RP (Vol. I) 10-11. A commissioner agreed and declined to dismiss the case but continued the remainder of the show cause hearing on the Landlord's motion for a writ of restitution to recover possession of the apartment so that Mr. Eddines could move for revision of the commissioner's decision. CP 44-45; RP (Vol. I) 20. A trial judge denied Mr. Eddines's motion to revise but certified the decision for interlocutory review under RAP 2.3(b)(4). CP 72-76, 102-105. The Court of Appeals granted discretionary review and affirmed the trial court. Mr. Eddines now petitions this Court for review.

VI. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

A. Review should be granted under RAP 13.4 (b)(1) because the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with this Court's decision in *Kennedy*.

The Court of Appeals' holding that the Auburn ordinance is preempted to the extent it prohibits an eviction allowed under state law directly conflicts with this Court's holding in *Kennedy* that municipalities may limit the permissible grounds for eviction in their jurisdictions *without* coming into conflict with

state unlawful detainer laws in chapter 59.12 RCW and chapter 59.18 RCW. In *Kennedy*, this Court rejected a conflict preemption challenge to a Seattle ordinance that limited a landlord's ability to evict houseboat occupants to six specific reasons. *See* 94 Wn.2d at 384.. Contrary to the Court of Appeals' characterization of the opinion, *Kennedy* concerned the precise question at issue here — "whether a city ordinance is preempted by state law if it categorically removes a cause for eviction that is permitted by state law." Slip op. at 7. Specifically, the ordinance in *Kennedy* made it unlawful for a moorage owner to remove a houseboat, or to evict a houseboat except for:

(1) failure to pay rent; (2) breach of covenant (excluding the obligation to surrender the site); (3) failure to abate a nuisance or causing a substantial damage to the moorage or substantially interfering with the comfort, safety or enjoyment of other floating home properties at the moorage; (4) failure to execute a lease not in excess of 5 years at a reasonable rent; (5) a change in use of the moorage (with several further restrictions) with 6 months advance notice; and (6) if the moorage owner, with 6 months' notice, wishes to occupy the moorage site and finds the displaced houseboat owner another lawful moorage site within the City of Seattle.

Id. at 379-380. In so restricting the permissible substantive grounds for eviction, the ordinance prohibited landlords from evicting a tenant of a moorage site when the tenant was liable for unlawful detainer and thus could be evicted under RCW 59.12.030(1) (providing a tenant is liable for unlawful detainer for holding over after the expiration of a lease term). See RCW 59.12.030 (1953). Notwithstanding this "categorical removal" of a cause for eviction that was permitted by state law, this Court held that there was no irreconcilable conflict between the ordinance and the unlawful detainer statutes because "[t]he ordinance does not raise further procedural barriers between landlord and tenant" but rather, creates a substantive defense for the tenant, which does not conflict with the unlawful detainer statutes since "[a] defendant in an unlawful detainer action may assert any defenses available." Kennedy, 94 Wn.2d at 384 (citing RCW 59.18.380).

In so holding, this Court adopted the reasoning of a California Supreme Court decision, which also upheld a

municipal ordinance limiting permissible grounds for eviction. *See id.* at 385 (citing *Birkenfeld v. Berkeley*, 17 Cal. 3d 129 (1976)). In *Birkenfeld*, as in *Kennedy*, state law made a tenant's possession of the premises after expiration of the term of tenancy a form of unlawful detainer for which the landlord could recover possession in summary proceedings, but a city charter provision prohibited the eviction of a tenant who was in good standing at the expiration of the term. 17 Cal. 3d at 148-49. The California court held that the state and local laws did not conflict and rather could be harmonized because they each served a separate purpose:

The purpose of the unlawful detainer statute is procedural. The statutes implement the landlord's property rights by permitting him to recover possession once the consensual basis for the tenant's occupancy is at an end. In contrast the charter amendment's elimination of particular grounds for eviction is a limitation upon the landlord's property rights under the police power, giving rise to a substantive ground of defense in unlawful detainer proceedings. The mere fact that a city's exercise of the police power creates such a defense does not bring it into conflict with the state's statutory scheme.

Id. at 149. In other words, the state unlawful detainer statute is intended to create an expedited procedure for regaining possession of property and not to create substantive rights for landlords to evict whenever there is a ground under the statute.

As this Court concluded in Kennedy, RCW 59.12.030 is a procedural statute that does not create affirmative substantive property rights for landlords. Similarly, the subsequently enacted just cause statute does not create an unqualified right for landlords to evict a tenant. To the contrary, by its plain language, RCW 59.18.650 provides a minimum floor of safeguards from eviction for tenants. It is prohibitory rather than permissive in nature, providing that "[a] landlord may not evict a tenant, refuse to continue a tenancy, or end a periodic tenancy except for the causes enumerated in subsection (2)." RCW 59.18.650(1)(a). As neither RCW 59.12.030 nor RCW 59.18.650 create an affirmative right to evict, local jurisdictions may prohibit evictions that are allowed under state law without irreconcilably conflicting with the unlawful detainer statutes.

Since Kennedy, this Court has reaffirmed that the unlawful detainer statute is procedural and not substantive, upholding a Seattle ordinance that imposed a rental registration requirement and precluded property owners who failed to register from evicting tenants. See Margola Assocs. v. City of Seattle, 121 Wn.2d 625, 651-52, 854 P.2d 23 (1993), abrogated on other grounds by Chong Yim v. City of Seattle, 194 Wash. 2d 682, 451 P.3d 694 (2019). This Court rejected the argument that the ordinance was preempted because it prohibited evictions that were permissible under state law and reasoned that the registration ordinance was not preempted because it created a defense for a tenant in an unlawful detainer action without raising further procedural barriers within the action. *Id*.

Despite this Court's holding in *Kennedy*, the Court of Appeals here concluded directly to the contrary that where an eviction is not substantively prohibited at the state level under RCW 59.18.650, "RCW 59.12.030 . . . create[s] an affirmative right [for the landlord to evict,] that conflicts with a local law,

such as ACC 5.23.070, that categorically eliminates this right." Slip op. at 11. The Court of Appeals' decision simply cannot be squared with this Court's rejection of the conflict preemption challenge in *Kennedy* or with this Court's other conflict preemption cases where, as in *Kennedy*, the Court has undertaken a nuanced analysis and considered the purpose of a state statute to determine whether it creates rights that cannot be restricted at the local level. *See Cannabis Action Coal. v. City of Kent*, 183 Wn.2d 219, 227, 351 P.3d 151 (2015) ("Though the rule [for conflict preemption] may be easily stated, the analysis is often nuanced.").

B. Review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(3) and (4) because the extent to which local jurisdictions can limit permissible grounds for eviction is an issue of substantial public interest and raises a significant question of state constitutional law.

By ignoring the purpose of the state's unlawful detainer statutes, failing to undertake the requisite nuanced analysis, and departing from this Court's holding in *Kennedy*, the Court of Appeals' decision severely restricts the significant regulatory

powers local governments wield under article XI, section 11 of our state constitution. Exercising these powers to legislate for the health and welfare of their residents, many Washington municipalities have enacted just cause ordinances and other tenant protections that go beyond what is required by state law. See, e.g., Kenmore Ord. No. 22-0544 (2022) (codified at Kenmore Municipal Code 8.55.075) (limiting permissible grounds for eviction to just causes enumerated in the section); Burien Ord. 716 (2019) (codified at Burien Municipal Code 5.63.070) (same); Federal Way Initiative Measure No. 19-001, §8 (2019) (codified at Federal Way Revised Code 20.05.020(5)) (same); Tacoma Ord. 28559 (2018) (codified at Tacoma Municipal Code 1.95.070.C) (limiting permissible grounds for eviction to just causes enumerated in the section) and 1.95.070.D (imposing additional notice requirements with which a landlord must comply before a tenant can be evicted)); Seattle Municipal Code (SMC) 22.205.010 (originally enacted 1987) (limiting permissible grounds for eviction to just causes enumerated in the

section); SMC 22.206.195.D (imposing additional notice requirements); SMC 22.206.180.K (same); SMC 22.205.100.A, .B (creating additional defenses to eviction for tenants who suffered financial hardship during the city's civil emergency due to COVID-19); SMC 22.205.100.C (imposing additional notice requirements).

These local tenant protection efforts have increased in recent years as jurisdictions have responded to the worsening housing affordability crisis in the region. *See* Kenmore Ord. No. 22-0544 ("[O]ver the past several years rents in Kenmore and King County have increased, and vacancies for affordable rental housing are at low levels, making it difficult for tenants, especially those with low incomes, to locate affordable rental housing" and "the City Council finds and declares that this ordinance is necessary to stabilize rental housing within Kenmore and reduce homelessness by building upon and supplementing the state's just cause protections."); Burien Municipal Code 5.63.010 ("This chapter strives to ensure

housing security for current and future residents"); Federal Way Revised Code 20.05.010 ("The people of the city of Federal Way hereby adopt the citizen initiative codified in this chapter for the purpose of protecting families and tenants and reducing homelessness. . . . The city of Federal Way faces an unprecedented housing affordability and homelessness crisis. To protect families, promote community, stabilize the rental market, and reduce homelessness, landlords must comply with tenant protection laws and show good cause before evicting a tenant); Tacoma Municipal Code 1.95.010 ("This chapter strives to ensure housing security for current and future residents").

The Court of Appeals opinion calls into question the validity of these vital protections and creates confusion about the extent to which local jurisdictions can regulate substantive property rights to improve housing stability. This Court should grant review to provide much-needed certainty for landlords, tenants, and local lawmakers and ultimately to uphold these valid exercises of municipal authority. Especially as the rate of

eviction cases continues to increase because of the expiration of COVID-era protections, landlords and tenants need certainty about what laws apply, and as local jurisdictions continue responding to the housing crisis in their communities, local lawmakers need guidance about the extent to which they can regulate in this area.

VII. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, this Court should accept review of the Court of Appeals' decision in this case and reverse.

This document contains <u>2,660</u> words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.