FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 10/29/2024 8:00 AM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

No. 1034342

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

VALLEY CITIES COUNSELING AND CONSULTATION,

Respondent,

v.

EZRA EDDINES,

Petitioner.

RESPONSE TO PETITIONER'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

By:

Harbor Appeals and Law, PLLC Drew Mazzeo, WSBA No. 46506 3510 53rd Street Gig Harbor, WA 98335

Email: office@harborappeals.com

Phone: (360) 539-7156 Fax: (360) 539-7205

Attorney for Respondent

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

lawmakers" and help "the growing affordable housing crisis." (Petition for Review).

- 4. ARGUMENT IN RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW
 - 4.1. Ezra Fails to Provide a Meritorious Basis Under RAP 13.4 for this Court to Accept Review.

A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court *only*:

- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

RAP 13.4 (emphasis added).

Here, Ezra fails to demonstrate any basis for this court to grant review. As explained below, Division One's decision does

not conflict with any case law, nor constitutional preemption doctrine, and it does not present any policy reason to grant review. Rather, accepting Ezra's arguments would completely eviscerate Washington State's Constitution's preemption clause to the point of no longer existing at all and being unrecognizable and unworkable in practice. *See* Wa. Const. art. XI, § 11.

4.2. This Court Should Deny Review Under RAP
13.4(1) as Ezra Cannot Demonstrate Any Conflict
with Decisions of this Court.

"Any county, city, town or township may make and enforce within its limits all such local police, sanitary and other regulations as are not in conflict with general laws." Wa. Const. art. XI, § 11. "[A] state statute preempts an ordinance . . . if a conflict exists such that the statute and the ordinance may not be harmonized." *Lawson v. City of Pasco*, 168 Wn.2d 675, 679, 230 P.3d 1038 (2010). "[A] local ordinance may go further in its prohibition than state law" but may not "forbid[] what state law permits." *Rental Hous. Ass 'n v. City of Seattle*, 22 Wn. App. 2d 426, 438-41 (2022); *Lawson*, 168 Wash.2d at 679; *Rabon v. City*

of Seattle, 135 Wash.2d 278, 293, 957 P.2d 621 (1998); Rental Hous. Ass'n of Washington v. City of Burien, 23 Wn. App. 2d 1015 (2022). A test derived from case law is whether state law grants an affirmative right to engage in the prohibited activity under local law. See Emerald Enterprises, LLC v. Clark Cnty., 2 Wn. App. 2d 794, 805, 413 P.3d 92, 98 (2018). In other words, an ordinance is constitutionally invalid if it "directly and irreconcilably conflicts with the statute." Brown v. City of Yakima, 116 Wash.2d 556, 561, 807 P.2d 353 (1991).

"Protected property interests include all benefits to which there is a legitimate claim of entitlement." *Crescent Convalescent Ctr. v. DSHS*, 87 Wn. App. 353, 358-59, 942 P.2d 981, 983 (1997). "Statutes and regulations create protected interests when they contain 'substantive predicates' or particularized standards or criteria that guide the discretion of official decision makers and specific directives that mandate a specific outcome if the substantive predicates are present." *Id.*

Under RCW 59.18.650(2)(j), transitional housing

"The tenant continues in possession of a dwelling unit in transitional housing after having received at least 30 days' advance written notice" and the tenant is "no longer eligible to participate in the transitional housing program."

Under ACC 5.23.070(E) "it shall be a defense to the action that there was no just cause for . . . eviction or termination" of tenancy unless the "just cause" is "provided in this section." The "section" referred to contains several causes for eviction and one glaring omission: A transitional housing landlord's cause for eviction based on transitional housing tenant no longer being eligible to participate in the transitional housing program.

Here, there is no way of interpreting ACC 5.23.070—prohibiting a landlord from ever evicting or terminating a tenancy with 30 days of notice because the tenant is no longer eligible to participate in the transitional housing program—so that it does not conflict with RCW 59.18.650(2)(j). This is because state law specifically and expressly provides the

affirmative right to transitional housing landlords to terminate a tenancy, and evict, a transitional tenant that is no longer eligible to participate in the transitional housing program while ACC 5.23.070 expressly prohibits that statutory right granted to landlords of transitional housing. *Compare* RCW 59.18.650(2)(j) *with* ACC 5.23.070; *see also Crescent Convalescent Ctr.*, 87 Wn. App. 353, 358-59.

Ezra, citing *Kennedy*, argues that ACC 5.23.070 permissibly bars a transitional housing provider from bringing an eviction action based on RCW 59.18.650(2)(j) because "[t]he ordinance does not raise further procedural barriers between landlord and tenant" other than providing "another defense for the tenant." *Kennedy v. City of Seattle*, 94 Wn.2d 376, 617 P.2d 713 (1980). Similarly, Ezra asserts the same argument, citing *Birkenfeld*.

As a threshold matter, both of the ordinances in *Kennedy* and *Birkenfeld* were held unconstitutional, the former as a taking and the latter because it "transgresse[d] the constitutional limits

of the police power . . . because . . . it . . . would impose heavy burdens upon landlords. . . ." *Birkenfeld v. Berkeley*, 17 Cal. 3d 129, 136, (1976). A "heavy burden" is exactly what ACC 5.23.070 "impose[s]" on transitional housing providers. Regardless, *Kennedy* is distinguished because the ordinance at issue did not eliminate the cause of action for eviction based on the end of the lease term, it added additional requirements the landlord had to meet before termination could occur. Local law adding for cause requirements to a plain state law no-cause termination statute is not necessarily a preemption issue.

However, as is the case with ACC 5.23.070, an ordinance *completely eliminating* a specific state law for cause termination statute, benefiting a specific group of defined landlords, is the very definition of conflict preemption. This is especially true where the state law being eliminated has specific legislatively prescribed conditions precedent and grants specific rights to a narrow group of special purpose landlords that exist solely to help stabilize housing.

Birkenfeld is distinguishable for, among other, the same reasons. The ordinance at issue there did not entirely eliminate the cause of action for eviction based on the end of the lease term. It added the requirements that the tenant must not be in "good standing at the expiration of the tenancy unless the premises are to be withdrawn from the rental housing market or the landlord's offer of a renewal lease has been refused." Id. at 148. In other words, in Birkenfeld the cause of action for eviction under state law based on the end of the lease was not completely eliminated; the landlord could still end a tenancy based on the expiration of the lease if the unit was being taken off the market, the tenant refused to sign a new lease, or if the tenant was not in good standing.

Additionally, *Birkenfeld* held a pre-suit certificate requirement was preempted precisely because it "raise[d] procedural barriers between the landlord and the judicial proceeding" that landlords were entitled to under state law. *Birkenfeld*, 17 Cal. 3d at 151. ACC 5.23.070 creates the same

type of preempted procedural barrier because it does not recognize RCW 59.18.650(2)(j) as a landlord's key to the courthouse, just the same as the certificate requirement locked the door to the courthouse for Californian landlords.

Notably, Ezra acknowledges that under *Kennedy* a local ordinance creating "procedural barriers to unlawful detainer" is one tipping point between state law preempting a local ordinance or that ordinance merely creating an additional defense to being evicted. (Brief of Appellant at 25, 27) (stating "Just like the ordinance in Kennedy, ACC 5.23.070 narrows permissible grounds for eviction without erecting procedural barriers in an unlawful detainer proceeding") (emphasis added). As to procedural barriers, certainly, at one end of this spectrum an ordinance that essentially removes the trial court's statutory jurisdiction to hear an unlawful detainer matter based on RCW 59.18.650(2)(j) clearly crosses that threshold. See Birkenfeld, 17 Cal. 3d at 151 (holding pre-eviction certificate requirement from City Board prevented landlord from accessing court and conflicted with state law summary eviction proceeding and was preempted). On the other hand, a local ordinance that adds minor requirements to a state law may be the other end of the spectrum. Arguable cases for preemption would include the addition of a registration requirement for landlord businesses or a delay in the enforcement of a writ.

With this spectrum and this case in mind, under Auburn's ordinance a transitional housing provider landlord cannot register with anyone, wait long enough, or jump through any other prescribed set of hoops to bring an eviction under RCW 59.18.650(2)(j). Instead, ACC 5.23.070 categorically denies bringing an eviction under RCW 59.18.650(2)(j) to a point where it categorically denies King County Superior Court from having the authority to hear the matter on the merits.

In *City of Seattle*, local ordinances created a winter eviction ban for low-income tenants and tenants in school or educators. 22 Wn. App. 2d at 439. In holding preemption did not apply, this Court found persuasive that cities were able to create

"additional affirmative defenses." *Id.* at 440. It held that "the[se] ordinances" that "do not erect new procedural barriers to unlawful detainer but merely determine[d] the timing of the issuance of writs of restitution" passed muster under preemption doctrine. *Id.* at 441.

Auburn's City Code 5.23.070 does not create an affirmative defense—or any other defense for that matter. Rather, it prohibits a very specific eviction right under RCW 59.18.650(2)(j) completely by eliminating it as basis for eviction and cause of action. The landlord not being able to evict under RCW 59.18.650(2)(j) is not a defense—it is literally the local law. There is no greater "procedural barrier" than a locality prohibiting a transitional housing provider from bringing an eviction action expressly allowed under RCW 59.18.650(2)(j).

Stated another way, affirmative defenses must generally be pled, otherwise they are waived. CR(8)(c). But under ACC 5.23.070, it is doubtful that a transitional housing provider with a tenancy from Auburn could obtain a default order for a writ if

the basis of eviction pled was RCW 59.18.650(2)(j) unless the landlord argued, and the Court held, the ordinance was preempted. See Kaye v. Lowe's HIW, Inc., 158 Wn. App. 320, 326, 242 P.3d 27, 30 (2010) (holding "[e]ven after default it remains for the court to consider whether the unchallenged facts constitute a legitimate cause of action, since a party in default does not admit mere conclusions of law"). This reality demonstrates ACC 5.23.070's major "further procedural barrier" ACC 5.23.070 creates supporting preemption.

Thus, the major lynch pin to Ezra's Petition of demonstrating conflict being Division One's decision and a decision of this Court cannot be met. This Court has no reason to accept review and should deny it.

4.3. This Court Should Deny Review Under RAP
13.4(2) as Ezra Cannot Demonstrate Any Conflict
with Decisions of Division Courts of Appeal.

Here, Ezra's Petition does not cite any court of appeals decisions, let alone in conflict with Division One's decision.

Moreover, Valley's responsive brief on appeal thoroughly

addressed the fact that no lower court of appeals decisions support Ezra's appeal.

4.4. This Court Should Deny Review Under RAP
13.4(3) and (4) as Division One's Decision Does
Create Any Constitutional Questions Nor Does It
Raise any Issue of Substantial Public Interest that
Need Be Reviewed By this Court.

As explained above, under preemption doctrine, an ordinance that removes the trial court's statutory authority to hear an unlawful detainer matter based on RCW 59.18.650(2)(j) clearly creates unconstitutional procedural barriers. See Kennedy, 94 Wn.2d at 384; Birkenfeld, 17 Cal. 3d at 151. On the other hand, a local ordinance that adds minor requirements to a state law such as mere registration requirements for a landlord business or adds a short delay to the enforcement of a writ may be constitutional when examined on a case-by-case basis. See City of Seattle, 22 Wn. App. 2d at 441; Margola Associates v. City of Seattle, 121 Wn.2d 625, 651, 854 P.2d 23, 38 (1993), abrogated by Chong Yim v. City of Seattle, 194 Wn.2d 651, 451 P.3d 675 (2019).

Here, under the guise of erroneously manufacturing a substantial policy issue with Division One's decision, Ezra advocates for the complete destruction of preemption doctrine to the degree that localities should be permitted to eliminate specific state laws created for the benefit of specific groups of landlords altogether. In his mind, a massive patchwork of local laws that conflict with state law (with no articulable legal standard as to when state law preempts local law), would "provide much-needed certainty" and "promot[] housing stability." (Petition at 2). Nothing could be further from the truth.

First, Washington's Constitution and preemption doctrine have existed since this State's founding for good reason. The state legislature sits atop the legislative hierarchy. This legislative body is constitutionally mandated to lead the charge when it comes to formulating complex, interconnected, law to address statewide issues such as the housing crisis. Localities, for the very reasons state law is debated and passed, are not constitutionally permitted to go rouge and ignore that state law.

Unsurprisingly, as to Auburn's ordinance, the trial court found it unconstitutional. Division One agreed. Now Ezra files this petition, but merely repeating bad arguments does not make them better. This Court should not take up any invitation to essentially amend Washington's constitution, and Wa. Const. art. XI, § 11, through judicial fiat. Rather, democracy and debate determine state law. Then local ordinances must fall inline. They may add some requirements to state law so long as it is in harmony with state law, but they cannot outright forbid what state law allows. Otherwise, correcting the housing crisis will be like steering the Titanic with an unwieldy rudder made of spaghetti; the state legislature would be unable to provide course direction on major issues if localities can completely ignore state law.

Second, similarly, the state legislature made a conscious choice to protect transitional housing providers as part of its plan to address housing problems. It did so by preventing the elimination of, and harm done to, transitional housing by

allowing such providers to evict persons that no longer qualify to reside in their units with 30 days of notice. See RCW 59.18.650(2)(j). If these important—statewide housing businesses—are not able to do so, then they lose funding and go out of business. Purpose Built Families Found., Inc. v. *McDonough*, 36 Vet. App. 345, 349 (2023), appeal dismissed, 2023-2383, 2023 WL 7101992 (Fed. Cir. Oct. 27, 2023); 2 C.F.R. § 200.339 (Remedies for noncompliance) (stating, "Federal awarding agency or pass-through entity may take one or more of the following actions. . . . (a) Temporarily withhold cash payments pending correction of the deficiency by the non-Federal entity or more severe enforcement action by the Federal awarding agency or pass-through entity. (b) Disallow (that is, deny both use of funds and any applicable matching credit for) all or part of the cost of the activity or action not in compliance. (c) Wholly or partly suspend or terminate the Federal award. (d) Initiate suspension or debarment proceedings. . . . (e) Withhold further Federal awards for the project or program. . . . "); 2 C.F.R.

§§ 200.340 (Termination) through 200.343 (Effects of suspension and termination) (providing failure to comply with the provisions of a DOC award may adversely impact the availability of funding under other active DOC or Federal awards and may also have a negative impact on a non-Federal entity's eligibility for future DOC or Federal awards). The intent and purpose of state law would then be directly thwarted.

In other words, the argument that landlords do not have a right to evict tenants that no longer qualify for transitional housing, under RCW 59.18.650(2)(j), is terrible. Not only do such landlords have a specifically prescribed and codified right to do so, but as Division One held "the overall statutory scheme" (not to mention the constitutional right to exclude others from your property) recognizes such right:

It is unlawful for the tenant to hold over in the premises or exclude the landlord therefrom after the termination of the rental agreement except under a valid court order so authorizing. Any landlord so deprived of possession of premises in violation of this section may recover possession of the property and damages sustained by him or her.

RCW 59.18.290(2).

A landlord may not evict a tenant, refuse to continue a tenancy, or end a periodic tenancy except for the causes enumerated in subsection (2).

RCW 59.18.650(1)(a).

The following reasons listed in this subsection constitute cause pursuant to subsection (2)...

RCW 59.18.650(2).

The tenant continues in possession of a dwelling unit in transitional housing after having received at least 30 days' advance written notice to vacate in advance of the expiration of the transitional housing program, the tenant has aged out of the transitional housing program, or the tenant has completed an educational or training or service program and is no longer eligible to participate in the transitional housing program.

RCW 59.18.650(2)(j); see also Crescent Convalescent Ctr., 87 Wn. App. at 358-59; 2 C.F.R. §§ 200.340 through 200.343.

Third, Ezra cites a list of local ordinances that he argues are in jeopardy because of the decision. He cites local ordinances from Seattle to Tacoma. The problem for Ezra is that Division One's decision was not groundbreaking nor controversial. It did

not espouse anything new, nor expansive, regarding preemption doctrine; the rule of law Division One espoused and applied is uncontroversial: an unconstitutional "conflict exists" if the ordinance "forbids what state law permits" and the "statute and the ordinance may not be harmonized." Thus, to the degree the other local ordinances cited by Ezra—not at issue nor briefed in this matter—do or do not pass that uncontroversial test is unaffected by Division One's decision in the case at hand. Those cases can be heard if a controversy arises, but this case has no impact on them because it says nothing new.

On the other hand, what was lawbreaking, controversial, unconstitutional was the City of Auburn not updating its local eviction law after the passage of RCW 59.18.650 to allow eviction of tenants no longer qualifying for transitional housing. That is why this case was published. Not because some new farreaching rule of law being established. Rather, called upon to review a specific ordinance under preemption doctrine, and after looking at the statutory scheme as a whole, Division One

correctly held state law provided that specific right and correctly

held Auburn's ordinance did not allow such right in any way

shape or form. Transitional housing providers in Auburn cannot

jump through any additional hoops or wait any additional amount

of time to evict a tenant from transitional housing when he or she

no longer qualified to reside there. By not being able to do so,

the very existence of, and funding for, such transitional housing

was jeopardized. Thus, ACC 5.23.070 could not be harmonized

with state law and was preempted.

5. CONCLUSION

Pursuant to RAP 13.4, Valley respectfully requests this

Court deny review, for the reasons stated herein.